Sleep and Aging Skin

159

Linna Guan, Reena Mehra, and Elma Baron

Contents

Introduction	2162
Defining Sleep	2162
Measuring Sleep Quality Sleep Quality Questionnaires	2163 2163
Polysomnography	2163 2163 2163
The Effect of Sleep on Hormone Regulation and	
Skin Aging	2164
Cortisol	2164
Glucose	2164
Melatonin	2165
Cellular Repair and Sleep	2165
Inflammation	2166
DNA Damage and Repair	2166
Oxidative Stress	2166
Role of Antioxidants	2167
Carcinogenesis	2167
Sleep and Skin Aging	2168
Sleep Quality and Skin Aging	2168
Sleep and Facial Appearance	2168
Diurnal Cycle of Skin Wrinkling	2168
Sleep Lines and Facial Wrinkles	2169

 The Role of Gender
 2169

 Recommendations for Good Sleep
 2170

 Sleep Hygiene
 2170

 Lavender and Sleep
 2170

 Conclusion
 2171

 References
 2171

L. Guan (🖂) • E. Baron Department of Dermatology, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, USA e-mail: Linna.Guan@case.edu; Elma. Baron@UHhospitals.org

R. Mehra Sleep Medicine Center, The Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, USA e-mail: Mehrar@ccf.org

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2017 M.A. Farage et al. (eds.), *Textbook of Aging Skin*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-47398-6_155

Abstract

Aging is a process that is universal and commonly outwardly manifested on the skin and often most significantly noticed on the skin. The prevention of skin aging is currently a multibillion dollar industry with progressive rapid expansion and continues to expand. Intact sleep and circadian rhythm regulation is known to have protective effects against systemic inflammation, oxidative stress, hormone dysregulation, DNA damage, and other variables that contribute to aging. This chapter is focused upon the examination of factors that relate sleep to skin aging. To dissect this relationship, it is necessary to recognize the definitions of adequate sleep quality and how it is assessed. Sleep occurs in alternating cycles of NREM sleep and REM sleep and disruption can decrease sleep quality. In fact, here are over 90 sleep disorders characterized by the International Classification of Sleep Disorders. Various tools in our armamentarium can assess sleep quality and identify sleep disorders including subjective measures collected from questionnaires and objective sleep measures gleaned from polysomnography. Sleep helps regulate physiological hormone levels and metabolism. When quality sleep is disrupted, these hormone levels become abnormal and cause aberrant metabolism and increased stress on the body. Some of the major hormones regulated by sleep are cortisol, glucose, and melatonin. Furthermore, sleep deprivation enhances inflammation, increased DNA damage, and decreased DNA repair; oxidative stress and emerging data implicate sleep disruption in carcinogenic risk. These adverse pathophysiologic consequences may contribute to signs of aging such as wrinkling and alterations in pigmentation. Biologic plausibility of these underlying mechanisms and available data identifying sleep disruption as a factor compromising skin health suggest that it is important to consider methods of improving sleep quality as part of maintaining a healthy skin, in order to minimize or delay such effects.

Introduction

Every night an individual goes through a period of rest during which the body is subjected to reduced activity and decreased sensitivity to external stimuli. Such experience is loosely defined as sleep [1]. During sleep the body's temperature, blood pressure, and physiological demands drop. Sleep is a vital part of life and plays an important role in information retention and processing, hormone and metabolism regulation, cellular repair, immune response, and aging, including skin aging [2]. To better understand the effect of sleep on skin aging, we must understand sleep's complexity and its effects.

Defining Sleep

Although people experience sleep slightly differently, there are common patterns found in normal sleep. Sleep is an easily reversible process characterized by cycles of NREM (non-rapid eye movement) and REM (rapid eye movement) sleep [2]. During NREM sleep, the body experiences decreased physiological activity with decreased heart rate, decreased blood pressure, and prolonged brain waves with greater amplitudes, the latter specific to slow-wave sleep [2]. NREM sleep consists of four stages. Each progressive stage represents a deeper and more restful state. Stage 1 is defined as the transition from wakefulness to sleep characterized by slow rolling eye movements. It is often during this stage that people experience the feeling of falling followed by sudden muscle jerks (so-called myoclonic or hypnic jerks) [2]. During stage 2, the body begins to relax as brain waves become slower and the heart rate and body temperature decrease. Sporadic surges of rapid waves called sleep spindles (fast alpha waves, 12-14 Hz) are observed on encephalography reflective of thalamocortical oscillations. Stages 3 and 4 (slow-wave sleep) are defined by profound relaxation of the body. The blood pressure, breathing rate, heart rate, and body temperature further decrease while brain waves are characterized by

slow delta waves at times mixed with smaller and faster waves [2]. The body becomes immobile and it is often difficult to awake during these two stages. REM sleep differs from NREM sleep in that REM sleep is characterized by fast and chaotic brain waves with rapid and shallow breathing, increased heart rate and blood pressure, and paralyzed limbs – a tumultuous state of sleep. Dream recall often occurs during REM sleep. Healthy sleep contains alternating NREM and REM sleeps in cycles of approximately 90–110 min, repeated four to six times with progressive lengthening of REM periods such that the predominance of REM sleep occurs during the latter part of the sleep cycle [2].

Measuring Sleep Quality

It is important clinically to be able to define sleep quality because of the immense role sleep plays in various aspects of aging. There are tools that have been used in sleep-related research and/or clinical care to evaluate sleep quality, which can also be used to determine the effect of sleep on skin aging.

Sleep Quality Questionnaires

The evaluation of sleep quality accounts for not only sleep duration but also other factors. One tool for measuring sleep quality is the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). The PSQI utilizes several parameters including subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleep medication, and daytime dysfunction over the last month [3]. The PSQI, developed in 1989, is a survey taken by an individual or clinical study subject that yields a number of points that then translate into a quantitative score. The maximum number of points on the survey is 21 and the minimum number of points is 0. The higher the number of points, the poorer the sleep. A score greater than 5 is associated with poor sleep quality [3]. It is one of the simple but effective tools for determining patient sleep quality and often used for research

studies with large sample sizes. Other sleepfocused questionnaires that may assist with understanding subjective sleep quality include the Sleep Quality Questionnaire, Epworth Sleepiness Scale (assesses dozing propensity), Functional Outcomes of Sleep Questionnaire, and questionnaires focused on screening for sleep-disordered breathing such as the Berlin and STOP-BANG questionnaires. Furthermore, questionnaires targeted toward other sleep disorders such as insomnia and restless legs syndrome are also available.

Polysomnography

The gold standard tool for evaluating sleep disorders such as sleep-disordered breathing and disruption of sleep architecture is polysomnography. It requires the patient to sleep overnight in a sleep laboratory while his brain activity and vitals are monitored using sensors attached to the scalp and the body [4]. Some of the commonly monitored physiologic parameters measured include brain electrical activity using an electroencephalogram (EEG), eye movements using an electrooculogram (EOG), and heart rate using an electrocardiogram (EKG). Other vitals such as respirations (airflow and nasal transducer), thoracoabdominal effort (typically via inductance plethysmography), and oxygen saturation are also often monitored. Polysomnography is a clinical diagnostic tool that can be used to detect sleep disorders such as narcolepsy, idiopathic hypersomnia, parasomnias, and sleep apnea. The main drawback of polysomnography, particularly in research, is that it is expensive and time consuming to perform in large scale.

Actigraphy

An increasingly common tool for assessing outpatient sleep quality is wrist actigraphy [5]. The actigraph estimates a patient's activity using the frequency of movement in the patient's arm. Usually the actigraph is a small, watch-like device that the patient wears on the nondominant wrist. Since muscle movements are more limited during sleep, the actigraph can measure sleep-wake cycles by monitoring the patient's movements. Actigraphy is an excellent tool for sleep studies that involve longer periods of time and unlike polysomnography can characterize sleep quality measures and patterns over multiple days/nights. Usually the actigraph is used to monitor patients for 1–2 weeks at a time [5]. It is relatively inexpensive. However, it lacks some details of sleep quality that the sleep questionnaires and polysomnography can provide.

The Effect of Sleep on Hormone Regulation and Skin Aging

Skin aging is classified into two types, intrinsic and extrinsic. Extrinsic skin aging is attributed to external factors such as UV radiation. Intrinsic aging of the skin is defined by structural changes due to genetics and normal physiology [6]. Unlike extrinsic aging that is accounted for by UV and toxin exposure, hormone changes and dysregulation are responsible for the majority of intrinsic aging of the skin [6]. Hormone dysregulation not only leads to aberrant metabolism which is ultimately responsible for the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) but also prevents the production of important antioxidants responsible for counteracting ROS and the damage they cause [7]. Sleep is one of the main regulators of hormone balance and rate of metabolism.

Cortisol

It has long been known that cortisol levels cycle in a circadian rhythm [8]. Cortisol is released in a pulsatile manner following adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) release. The level of cortisol typically falls during the night, shortly after falling asleep, and reaches its lowest around midnight [9]. It then slowly reaches its peak in the morning around 3–9 a.m. [10]. Many diseases are associated with the dysfunction of this cyclical process including Cushing's syndrome, Alzheimer's disease, metabolic syndrome, and various mood disorders [11].

Studies have shown that short-term sleep deprivation of only one night corresponded with a 45 % elevation of cortisol levels the following night [9]. Long-term sleep deprivation showed similar results with elevated levels of glucocorticoids [12]. In the skin, elevated levels of glucocorticoids translate to lower permeability barrier homeostasis, less stratum corneum cohesion, decreased wound healing, and depressed innate immunity in the epidermis [13], all of which in turn could lead to intrinsic aging of the skin. Furthermore, sleep deprivation can cause physiological stress which induces excess glucocorticoid secretion and thus enhance skin aging. Insomniac psychologic stress, also known as IPS, is known to decrease epidermal cell proliferation, impair epidermal differentiation, and decrease the density and size of corneodesmosomes which hold keratinocytes together [14]. This can disrupt the skin's barrier against exogenous insults. The excess glucocorticoids also inhibit the synthesis of lipids, causing lower production and secretion of lamellar bodies which can lead to further damage to the epidermal barrier [15].

Glucose

During restful sleep, metabolic rate is reduced by approximately 15 % [16]. During the day when metabolic demand and glucose utilization are high, there is an increase in oxidative stress leading to increase in the production of radical oxygen species. During parts of non-REM sleep, there is a decrease in metabolic rate and brain temperature. This decrease helps the repair of damage from metabolically active periods.

When sleep deprivation occurs, glucose clearance is reduced by 40 % and the response of insulin to glucose is also reduced, leading to an elevated level of serum glucose [17]. The reduction of glucose tolerance after sleep deprivation is partially attributed to the increased levels of glucocorticoids. However, there also seem to be other mechanisms involved [7]. Studies have shown that slow-wave sleep (SWS) plays an important role in regulating insulin and maintaining glucose homeostasis [8].

The elevation of glucose concentration negatively impacts the proliferation of keratinocytes as well as fibroblasts of the skin [18, 19]. Impairment of proliferation of skin fibroblasts leads to delayed wound healing [19], similar to the delay in wound healing observed in the skin of the elderly [20]. There is also evidence that an increase in glucose concentration leads to the terminal differentiation and change in morphology of these keratinocytes [18]. These terminally differentiated cells lose their ability to generate new cells and are arrested in a terminal state through the upregulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors and downregulation of positive mediators of the cell cycle [21]. This parallels the phenomenon of cellular senescence in that these keratinocytes treated with high-glucose levels show characteristics similar to senescent cells [21]. At high concentrations of glucose, the keratinocytes are larger and flatter and did not exhibit orientation toward each other which can negatively impact the function and integrity of the keratinocytes [18].

Melatonin

Melatonin is another hormone that has been extensively studied in relationship to sleep. Its release from the pineal gland via stimulation from the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) of the anterobasal hypothalamus displays circadian rhythm [8]. Its levels are higher in the biological night and lower in the biological day [8]. Melatonin can also be produced in extrapineal organs such as cutaneous cells, but the level of secretion is variable and usually displays no circadian rhythm [22]. The release of melatonin can help reduce sleep latency, increase total sleep time, and improve sleep maintenance [8]. Furthermore, the therapeutic effects of melatonin on the skin are extensive. Skin cells express both membranebound and nuclear melatonin receptors which allow melatonin to play a role in multiple vital functions such as hair growth cycling, hair pigmentation, melanoma control, antioxidant activity, and suppression of ultraviolet-induced

damage to skin cells [23]. Melatonin has been shown to decrease aging-related skin changes from oxidative stress and prevent extrinsic aging of the skin through protection against UV-induced skin aging [24, 25], both of which will be discussed later in more detail.

The induction of melatonin expression from the SCN is dependent primarily on the light/dark cycling within the day [26]. Because light is the most effective suppressor, the introduction of artificial light in modern-day life alters the induction of melatonin secretion through the SCN [26]. Studies have shown that the intensity of light used directly correlates to the amount of suppression of melatonin levels [27]. The common practice of using artificial light at night to increase productivity has a negative impact on the circadian rhythm of melatonin. Dysregulation of melatonin ultimately has an adverse effect on the integrity of the skin and prevents melatonin's natural antiaging benefits on the skin. This leads to both increases in extrinsic aging of the skin from UV damage as well as intrinsic aging of the skin from oxidative stress.

The interplay among various hormones involved in the maintenance of skin health and integrity is extensive and complex. While significant research efforts are still ongoing on how sleep can impact these hormones, it is agreed that sleep deprivation negatively impacts changes in these hormone levels that ultimately result in damage and accelerated aging of the skin.

Cellular Repair and Sleep

Sleep is a process indispensable for cellular repair. During sleep, the body undergoes cellular repair and renewal and protects against other harmful exposures. This process is vital to the maintenance of the integrity and structure of the skin and recovery of the skin from UV damage [28]. Dysregulation of sleep is linked with an increase in inflammatory activity [29], increase in cellular injury [30], increase in DNA damage [31], increase in radical oxygen species production [32], and change in transcription levels of various genes [33], all of which may contribute to both intrinsic and extrinsic aging of the skin.

Inflammation

Inflammation is a process mediated by various cytokines, notably IL-6 and TNF- α [34]. IL-6 has many functions including elevating body temperature through activation of C-reactive protein, activating other inflammatory cytokine pathways, stimulating the production of neutrophils in the bone marrow, and attracting neutrophils to the site of inflammation [35]. TNF- α also plays many roles in the body from coordination of organ development to mediation of acute adaptive immune response and apoptosis [36]. Elevated levels of both IL-6 and TNF- α are observed in modest sleep restriction [29]. These cytokines have been linked to the loss of facial subcutaneous fat through the inhibition of preadipocyte differentiation [37]. Adipocytes are the fat-storing cells of the dermis and loss of adipocyte differentiation can ultimately cause increased wrinkling and sagging, resulting in the appearance of an aged face [38].

DNA Damage and Repair

A vital process for the retardation of aging is DNA repair. Repairing DNA helps maintain cellular function and regulation and prevents apoptosis of the cell. Sleep deprivation not only causes cell damage but also predisposes the cells to replication errors. Significantly increased DNA damage has been found in murine models that suffer total sleep deprivation over the control [30]. Diseases that disrupt sleep and cause poor sleep quality in humans such as sleep apnea can cause increased stress on the DNA. Sleep apnea patients are found to have a significant increase in susceptibility to DNA damage and reduction in DNA repair [39]. Although total sleep deprivation studies on humans cannot be fully replicated due to ethical concerns, it can be inferred that similar results can be obtained.

Furthermore, DNA repair has been shown to be regulated by factors that display a circadian pattern [31]. Numerous proteins, including several that regulate DNA repair, are controlled by the biological clock. Timeless, Tipin, and human CLK-2 are all factors that regulate the biological clock that also have been shown to directly affect ATR/Chk1-controlled DNA damage checkpoints during S-phase progression [31]. ATR and its downstream effects, Chk1, are responsible for the regulation of replication checkpoints where ssDNA have stalled which can result in deleterious conformations or collapsed replication forks [40].

NPAS2, neuronal PAS domain protein 2, is a core circadian gene and a transcriptional regulator, which has been linked to DNA repair [41]. NPAS2 protein forms a heterodimer with BMAL1 protein as a part of the positive circadian feedback loop to activate circadian genes and regulate circadian rhythm [41]. Silencing the NPAS2 gene has been shown to decrease cell viability, increase susceptibility to DNA damage, and decrease DNA damage repair capacity [41]. Dysregulation of sleep and circadian rhythm can impair the DNA repair mechanisms. Skin aging and carcinogenesis are closely linked with DNA damage and inhibition of DNA repair [42]. Poor sleep quality can result in elevated levels of DNA damage and reduced levels of DNA repair.

Oxidative Stress

Along with increased DNA damage, sleep deprivation and sleep-disordered breathing also have been associated with elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [30]. ROS refers to free radicals such as hydroxyl (OH•), superoxide $(O2^{-})$, nitric oxide (NO•), thyl (RS•), and peroxyl (RO₂•) and non-free radicals such as peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), hypochlorous acid (HOCl), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), singlet oxygen (1O_2), and ozone (O_3) [43]. Even normal metabolism naturally generates ROS. The electron transport system in the mitochondria of many cells uses electron carriers such as nicotinamide dinucleotide (NAD+) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) which are later reoxidized in the mitochondria to generate ATP [43]. During this process of ATP production, significant ROS by-products are generated. It is estimated that approximately 1-2 % of all consumed oxygen is used for superoxide production [44]. In most cells, ROS is generated mainly in the mitochondria, although it is important to note that cells like hepatocytes can produce more ROS in the peroxisomes and endoplasmic reticulum than in the mitochondria [43].

ROS is also produced by various other pathways such as inflammation and UV damage. ROS plays important functions in normal physiology from destroying microbes in macrophages to regulating apoptosis [43]. However, superfluous levels of ROS can be produced during sleep deprivation. Being awake requires high levels of neuronal metabolism to retain electric potentials of the neurons [32]. As mentioned previously, sleep decreases levels of metabolism which can reduce ROS generation and provide for a state of increased antioxidant action to protect against free radicals [32]. Increased oxidative stress from sleep deprivation causes unwarranted apoptosis and cellular dysfunction through DNA damage and modification of proteins and lipids [43].

Oxidative damage is the major cause of skin aging. In the dermis, ROS imbalance leads to the destruction of collagen or impairment of collagen synthesis [44]. Breakdown of the dermal matrix causes wrinkling, a major sign of skin aging. ROS also increases destruction or impairment of differentiation of melanocytes, leaving the skin hypopigmented and vitiligo-like, which is another manifestation of skin aging [45].

Role of Antioxidants

Antioxidants can prevent and even reverse damage done by ROS. There are both enzymatic antioxidants and nonenzymatic antioxidants. Nonenzymatic antioxidants include compounds such as vitamin C, vitamin E, beta-carotene, and CoQ10 [45]. Most of these compounds such as vitamin C and vitamin E exert their antioxidant effects through the donation of an electron to a dangerous free radical. After donation of an electron, both vitamin C and vitamin E form radicals. However, they are relatively unreactive compared with the ROS and may be reduced back to its original state or donate its other electron [45]. Beta-carotene takes the free radical from the ROS to form an epoxide that can be later degraded while CoQ10 blocks lipids from forming peroxides. Enzymatic antioxidants function to "dismutate" superoxides to hydrogen per-oxide through various mechanisms [45]. Some of these enzymes include superoxide dismutases, catalases, glutathione peroxidases, ferritin, and peroxiredoxins [45].

Melatonin functions as both a nonenzymatic antioxidant and an activator of enzymatic antioxidants. It scavenges ROS through single electron transfer, hydrogen transfer, and radical adduct formation [46]. It also activates antioxidant enzymes, inhibits prooxidant enzymes, and improves mitochondrial function to reduce radical formation [46]. Skin aging is marked by decrease in skin thickness, flattening of the dermoepidermal junction, and decrease in hair follicles and dermal papillae [24]. Interestingly, melatonin has also been proved to be able to reverse the process of skin aging through increasing the thickness of the epidermis and dermis, hair follicles, and papillae in murine models [24]. This further lends support to the role of melatonin as an important antioxidant that can relieve oxidative stress to hinder the skin aging process.

Carcinogenesis

As the skin ages, it becomes more susceptible to carcinogenesis. The effects of UV light accumulate over time and contribute to photoaging of the skin. Some of the mechanisms involved in the increase in susceptibility to carcinogenesis include increase in ROS production leading to damage of DNA, reduction in DNA repair ability, and decline in immune surveillance. These are all processes that may be associated with sleep deprivation. Sleep deprivation also causes increase in ROS production, decrease in RNA repair ability, and attenuation in immune function [43]. Various cohort studies have shown that "long sleepers" of greater than 9 h have been shown to have decreased risk of breast cancer compared with those who sleep less [47]. Sleep is a time when

the body can undergo repair and renewal, which likely explains the association between sleep deprivation, skin aging, and cancer development.

Sleep and Skin Aging

Sleep Quality and Skin Aging

The effectiveness of sleep is dependent on more than just the duration of sleep. Other factors such as sleep latency and sleep disturbances are also critical measurements of sleep quality. Sleep quality has a significant impact on the aging of the skin. It has been reported that chronic poor sleep quality, evaluated using the PSQI score, is associated with lower skin function, integrity, and perception [28]. Those with scores less than 5 on the PSQI and an average sleep duration of 7–9 h are considered good sleeper, while those with scores greater than 5 on the PSQI and an average sleep duration of less than 5 h were considered poor sleepers. The good sleepers were shown to have significantly lower intrinsic aging than the poor sleepers, determined using SCINEXA [28].

SCINEXA is an index used to evaluate intrinsic versus extrinsic skin aging based on 5 noninvasive parameters of intrinsic aging and 18 noninvasive parameters of extrinsic aging [48]. Major intrinsic aging parameters are reduced fat tissue and uneven pigmentation. Major extrinsic aging parameters include carcinomas and permanent erythema [48].

Good sleepers have better recovery from erythema 24 h after UV radiation compared with poor sleepers. Good sleepers also have better skin barrier recovery [28]. To test skin barrier recovery, both good sleepers and poor sleepers were tape stripped to the same transepidermal water loss (TEWL). After 3 days, good sleepers showed markedly greater barrier recovery (30 %) than poor sleepers [28]. The good sleepers also had better satisfaction with their overall appearance than the poor sleepers did [28].

Chronic poor sleep quality affects intrinsic aging of the skin, recovery from UV erythema, and skin barrier recovery. Poor sleep quality not only affects the integrity and function of the skin but also negatively impacts self-perception.

Sleep and Facial Appearance

In a separate study, subjects' facial appearances were evaluated post good sleep and post sleep deprivation [49]. The study used pictures of subjects following 8 h of sleep and subjects following 5 h of sleep and then 31 h of sleep deprivation. Random evaluators were asked to rate the pictures on various signs of fatigue. The factors include perceived fatigue, hanging eyelids, swollen eyes, glazed eyes, dark circles under eyes, pale skin, wrinkles/lines around the eyes, rash/eczema, sadness, tense lips, and droopy corners of the mouth. It was noted that those with 5 h of sleep followed by 31 h of sleep deprivation had more hanging eyelids, redder eyes, more swollen eyes, darker circles under the eyes, paler skin, more wrinkles and fine lines around the eyes, and droopier corners of the mouth [49]. They were also noted to look more fatigued and sad [49]. Items that did not seem to differ between the two groups were level of glazed eyes, rash/eczema, and tense lips [49].

The idea that sleep has a significant impact on facial appearance is not a new one. However, with consumers spending billions of dollars on cosmetic products to enhance facial appearance, it is important to remember that just having a good sleep can significantly improve facial appearance.

Diurnal Cycle of Skin Wrinkling

One of the major signs of skin aging that can be visualized is wrinkling. A study published in 2004 found that wrinkle formation on the face differed in the morning versus the afternoon [50]. It was revealed that measurements of skin wrinkling were significantly higher in the afternoon versus in the morning on the forehead, corner of the eye, and nasolabial groove. Skin thickness and skin elasticity were also measured and were both found to be significantly less in the afternoon than in the morning. It is speculated that this phenomenon is caused by a shift of fluid from

the skin of the face into the limbs from the morning to the afternoon [50]. Sleep would have a significant impact on this diurnal cycle since the horizontal position of sleeping would bring the shift in fluid back to the face. Therefore, it can be inferred that sleep deprivation would prevent the shift of fluid back to the face and promote wrinkle formation.

Sleep Lines and Facial Wrinkles

Sleep position can also affect the formation of facial wrinkles. Wrinkles or sleep lines are caused by continuous and repetitive pressure placed on the face from sleeping in the same position [51]. This constant force can eventually lead to elongation of the facial muscles and compression of wrinkles that persists even throughout the day. Since on average a person sleeps for one-third of his life, sleeping causes deepening of the wrinkles that worsens with aging [51]. Sleep lines are generally found as 2–3 parallel lines within a general area of the face [52]. Common areas of these lines are found in the lateral orbital, temporal, frontal, and buccal regions. People who sleep in prone positions are more likely to develop sleep lines than those who sleep in supine positions [52]. Furthermore, those who sleep on their left side are more likely to develop sleep lines than those who sleep on their right side [53]. Certain pillows can relieve the pressure on certain areas of the face and redistribute the gravitational force [51], but ultimately the only way to eliminate any pressure on the face is to sleep supine.

Independent of sleep position, individuals who have a mutation in the melanocortin-1 receptor (MC1R) gene also demonstrate an increased likelihood to form sleep lines [54]. The MC1R protein binds to melanocortin hormones such as ACTH (adrenocorticotropic hormone) and MSH (melanocyte-stimulating hormone) to regulate skin and hair color. It was also shown to have a role in photoaging of the skin. Certain mutations of this gene have been linked to significantly increased risk for photoaging when compared with wild type [54]. The same mutations of MC1R that are linked with photoaging have been implicated in increase in development of sleep lines.

The Role of Gender

Gender differences affect many aspects of the brain, most notably cognition and sleep. Some cognitive differences between the genders include that women perform better on verbal and memory tasks, while men performed better in spatial tasks [55]. Studies have also shown that women display less age-associated cognitive decline than men and that men show age-related neurocognitive decline at a younger age than women [55–57].

Differences in the sleep quality between the two genders have been well documented in previous literature [58]. Sleep differences that have been reported include: females experience longer sleep latency than males, women younger than 55 years of age report more sleepiness than men, older women sleep on average 20 min less than men, and women have more SWS and less NREM stage 1 than men [59]. As women age, they are 40 % more likely to develop insomnia and two times more likely to develop restless legs syndrome than men [60]. Mouse models have shown that some of these differences are due to the different sex hormones' involvement with each gender [59]. Murine models have shown that gonadectomy in female and male rates eliminated gender differences in the sleep-wake cycle, but hormone replacement of physiological levels restored these differences [61]. Furthermore, ovarian steroids were shown to inhibit NREM and REM sleep with greater suppression in female rats than in male rats [61].

On a different note, a study found that aging affected gender categorization of male and female adult faces differently. Compared to images of younger females, aging female faces took progressively longer amount of time to categorize. On the other hand, images of aging male faces took progressively shorter time to categorize [62]. The study suggests that female faces are progressively more difficult to categorize as female, while male faces are more easily identifiable as male as they age. These findings suggest that although women display less cognitive decline as they age, their sleep quality is lower when compared to men. This puts the females at elevated risk for skin aging compared to the males. Furthermore, a large part of societal beauty standards comes from the distinction between the two genders. Since female faces seem to lose its "feminine" characteristics as they age, the desire to prevent facial aging is even more pronounced in aging females.

Recommendations for Good Sleep

Knowing the benefits of sleep and the detrimental effects of sleep deprivation on the skin, it is natural to want to know what it takes to achieve good quality sleep. There are different approaches to improving sleep quality. Two approaches are discussed here, sleep hygiene and lavender.

Sleep Hygiene

Sleep hygiene is a term coined by Dr. Peter Hauri to define various ways for patients to deal with their insomnia [63]. It recommends incorporation of various behaviors and environmental conditions that are conducive to good quality sleep and avoidance of behaviors and environmental conditions that result in poor quality sleep [64]. It is often used to treat or prevent sleep disorders and is a major component of cognitive behavioral therapy or multimodal therapy for treating insomnia [65]. Although there has been mixed findings on the effectiveness of incorporating sleep hygiene to improve sleep quality in the experimental setting, the components of sleep hygiene can still provide useful information to aid individuals with finding good quality sleep solutions.

Up to date, there has not been a consensus on what elements to include in a sleep hygiene treatment. However, some of the factors often associated with sleep hygiene include consistency of sleep and wake times, avoidance of daytime naps, avoidance of alcohol particularly close to bedtime, and exercise (preferably in the morning) before bedtime [64]. Having a regular bedtime helps align the circadian rhythm for the promotion of sleep [64]. It has been demonstrated that sleeping at approximately the same time every night and aligning light exposure around the same time increase the propensity for sleep. Daytime naps reduce nocturnal sleep pressure and are associated with decrease in depth of nighttime sleep and increased latency before sleep onset. Avoidance of daytime naps is associated with good sleep hygiene. Alcohol is well documented as a suppressant of nocturnal REM sleep and reduces upper airway muscle tone, hence resulting in worsening of sleep-disordered breathing [64]. It interferes with good quality sleep and should be avoided before bedtime. Studies have shown that exercise has a mixed effect on sleep. Exercising later in the day can help promote sleep depth. However, exercising prior to bedtime can delay sleep onset [64]. Increasing body temperature before bedtime has been shown to increase the depth of sleep. Activities such as taking a hot bath before bedtime have been proven conducive to good quality rest. It is suggested that a rapid decline in core body temperature before sleep can decrease sleep latency [64]. It is also recommended that the average adult obtain 7–8 h of sleep as in particular reduced sleep duration has been associated with long-term adverse health consequences such as weight gain and increased cardiovascular risk as well as compromise of alertness and vigilance.

Improving sleep hygiene can positively impact sleep quality. However, each individual is different and may be affected by different factors. An effective way to find out what constitutes good sleep hygiene is to experiment with different routines and environments.

Lavender and Sleep

Various studies have noted that there is a positive effect of lavender on sleep quality. A study on healthy Japanese students reported that nighttime exposure to lavender helps prevent sleepiness upon awakening [66]. In postpartum women, a similar effect was observed. Postpartum women using lavender aromatherapy at night were shown to have a significant increase in sleep quality at 8 weeks follow-up evaluated using PSQI [67]. Lavender has also been indicated in attenuation of depression [68].

For those with mild sleep disturbances and those who would like to improve sleep quality, lavender aromatherapy at night can be suggested. There are no negative side effects of this inhaled essential oil when used appropriately [69].

Conclusion

One of the obvious signs of aging occurs where everyone can see it – on the skin. The market's demand to prevent and slow skin aging drives a multibillion dollar industry today. However, sound approaches to improve skin function and protect skin against aging do not come from expensive creams or gels. One of the effective ways to protect the skin is through adequate quantity and quality of sleep. Good quality sleep can attenuate sleep aging through many mechanisms highlighted in this chapter.

On the other hand, skin plays an integral role in regulating sleep from thermoregulation during sleep-to-sleep onset and sleep latency. All of which can in return augment the quality of sleep. Since the discovery of the relationship between sleep and skin aging, there is a stronger focus on improvement of sleep quality from a dermatological standpoint. We expect more studies in the future that are aimed at understanding this dynamic field.

References

- WGBH Educational Foundation. Division of sleep medicine at Harvard Medical School: the characteristics of sleep. 2007. http://healthysleep.med.harvard. edu/healthy/science/what/characteristics
- National Sleep Foundation. National Sleep Foundation: sleep-wake cycle: its physiology and impact on health. 2006. http://sleepfoundation.org/sites/default/ files/SleepWakeCycle.pdf
- Buysse D, Reynolds C, Monk T, Berman S, Kupfer D. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI): a new

instrument for psychiatric research and practice. Psychiatry Res. 1989;28(2):193–213.

- Kushida C, Littner M, Morgenthaler T, et al. Practice parameters for the indications for polysomnography and related procedures: an update for 2005. Sleep. 2005;28:499–521.
- Sadeh A, Sharkey K, Carskadon M. Activity-based sleep-wake identification: an empirical test of methodological issues. Sleep. 1994;17:201–7.
- Poljšak B, Dahmane R, Godić A. Intrinsic skin aging: the role of oxidative stress. Acta Dermatovenerol Alp Pannonica Adriat. 2012;21:33–6. doi:10.2478/ v10162-012-0009-0.
- Sharma S, Kavuru M. Sleep and metabolism: an overview. Int J Endocrinol. 2010. doi:10.1155/2010/ 270832.
- Kim TW, Jeong J, Hong S. The impact of sleep and circadian disturbance on hormones and metabolism. Int J Endocrinol. 2015. doi:10.1155/2015/591729.
- Leproult R, Copinschi G, Buxton O, Van Cauter E. Sleep loss results in an elevation of cortisol levels the next evening. Sleep. 1997;20(10):865–70.
- Kreiger DT. Rhythms of acth and corticosteroid secretion in health and disease, and their experimental modification. J Steroid Biochem. 1975;6(5):785–91.
- Chung S, Son GH, Kim K. Circadian rhythm of adrenal glucocorticoid: its regulation and clinical implications. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1812(5):581–91. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.02.003.
- Mirescu C, Peters JD, Noiman L, Gould E. Sleep deprivation inhibits adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus by elevating glucocorticoids. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2006;103(50):19170–5.
- Lin TK, et al. Paradoxical benefits of psychological stress in inflammatory dermatoses models are glucocorticoid mediated. J Invest Dermatol. 2014;134 (12):2890–7. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.265.
- Choi EH, et al. Mechanisms by which psychologic stress alters cutaneous permeability barrier homeostasis and stratum corneum integrity. J Invest Dermatol. 2005;124(3):587–95.
- Kahan V, Andersen ML, Tomimori J, Tufik S. Can poor sleep affect skin integrity? Med Hypotheses. 2010;75 (6):535–7. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2010.07.018.
- Goldberg GR, Prentice AM, Davies HL, Murgatroyd PR. Overnight and basal metabolic rates in men and women. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1988;42(2):137–44.
- Spiegel K, Leproult R, Van Cauter E. Impact of sleep debt on metabolic and endocrine function. Lancet. 1999;354(9188):1435–9.
- Spravchikov N, et al. Glucose effects on skin keratinocytes: implications for diabetes skin complications. Diabetes. 2001;50(7):1627–35.
- Hehenberger K, Heilborn JD, Brismar K, Hansson A. Inhibited proliferation of fibroblasts derived from chronic diabetic wounds and normal dermal fibroblasts treated with high glucose is associated with increased formation of L-lactate. Wound Repair Regen. 1998;6:135–41.

- 20. Gerstein A, et al. Wound healing and aging. Dermatol Clin. 1993;11(4):749–57.
- Gandarillas A. Epidermal differentiation, apoptosis, and senescence: common pathways? Exp Gerontol. 2000;35(1):53–62.
- 22. Slominski A, et al. Melatonin in the skin: synthesis, metabolism and functions. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2008;19(1):17–24.
- Slominski A, et al. On the role of melatonin in skin physiology and pathology. Endocrine. 2005;27 (2):137–48.
- Eşrefoğlu M, et al. Potent therapeutic effect of melatonin on aging skin in pinealectomized rats. J Pineal Res. 2005;39(3):231–7.
- Kleszczynski K, Fischer TW. Melatonin and human skin aging. Dermatoendocrinology. 2012;4 (3):245–52. doi:10.4161/derm.22344.
- Reiter RJ, et al. Obesity and metabolic syndrome: association with chronodisruption, sleep deprivation, and melatonin suppression. Ann Med. 2012;44 (6):564–77. doi:10.3109/07853890.2011.586365.
- McIntyre IM, et al. Human melatonin suppression by light is intensity dependent. J Pineal Res. 1989;6 (2):149–56.
- Oyetakin-White P, et al. Does poor sleep quality affect skin ageing? Clin Exp Dermatol. 2015;40(1):17–22. doi:10.1111/ced.12455.
- Vgontzas AN, et al. Adverse effects of modest sleep restriction on sleepiness, performance, and inflammatory cytokines. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89 (5):2119–26.
- Everson CA, et al. Cell injury and repair resulting from sleep loss and sleep recovery in laboratory rats. Sleep. 2014;37(12):1929–40. doi:10.5665/sleep.4244.
- Collis SJ, Boulton SJ. Emerging links between the biological clock and the DNA damage response. Chromosoma. 2007;116(4):331–9.
- Villafuerte G, et al. Sleep deprivation and oxidative stress in animal models: a systematic review. Oxid Med Cell Longevity. 2015. doi:10.1155/2015/234952.
- Anafi RC, et al. Sleep is not just for the brain: transcriptional responses to sleep in peripheral tissues. BMC Genomics. 2013;14:362. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-14-362.
- 34. Irwin MR, Carrillo C, Olmstead R. Sleep loss activates cellular markers of inflammation: sex differences. Brain Behav Immun. 2010;24(1):54–7. doi:10.1016/j. bbi.2009.06.001.
- Ataie-Kachoie P, et al. Gene of the month: interleukin 6 (IL-6). J Clin Pathol. 2014;67(11):932–7. doi:10.1136/jclinpath-2014-202493.
- Bradshaw RA, Dennis EA. Handbook of cell signaling. 2nd ed. Oxford: Academic; 2009. p. 265–75.
- 37. Li WH, et al. IL-11, IL-1α, IL-6, and TNF-α are induced by solar radiation in vitro and may be involved in facial subcutaneous fat loss in vivo. J Dermatol Sci. 2013;71 (1):58–66. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2013.03.009.

- Pessa JE, et al. The anatomical basis for wrinkles. Aesthet Surg J. 2014;34(2):227–34. doi:10.1177/ 1090820X13517896.
- Kontogianni K, et al. DNA damage and repair capacity in lymphocytes from obstructive sleep apnea patients. Environ Mol Mutagen. 2007;48(9):722–7.
- Paulsen RD, Cimprich KA. The ATR pathway: finetuning the fork. DNA Repair. 2007;6(7):953–66.
- 41. Hoffman AE, et al. The circadian gene NPAS2, a putative tumor suppressor, is involved in DNA damage response. Mol Cancer Res. 2008;6(9):1461–8. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-07-2094.
- Hadshiew IM, Eller MS, Gilchrest BA. Skin aging and photoaging: the role of DNA damage and repair. Am J Contact Dermat. 2000;11(1):19–25.
- Noguti J, et al. Oxidative stress, cancer, and sleep deprivation: is there a logical link in this association? Sleep Breath. 2013;17(3):905–10. doi:10.1007/ s11325-012-0797-9.
- Masaki H. Role of antioxidants in the skin: anti-aging effects. J Dermatol Sci. 2010;58(2):85–90. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2010.03.003.
- Rinnerthaler M, et al. Oxidative stress in aging human skin. Biomolecules. 2015;5(2):545–89. doi:10.3390/ biom5020545.
- 46. Zhang HM, Zhang Y. Melatonin: a well-documented antioxidant with conditional pro-oxidant actions. J Pineal Res. 2014;57(2):131–46. doi:10.1111/ jpi.12162.
- Blask DE. Melatonin, sleep disturbance and cancer risk. Sleep Med Rev. 2009;13(4):257–64. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2008.07.007.
- Vierkötter A, et al. The SCINEXA: a novel, validated score to simultaneously assess and differentiate between intrinsic and extrinsic skin ageing. J Dermatol Sci. 2009;53(3):207–11. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2008.10.001.
- Sundelin T, et al. Cues of fatigue: effects of sleep deprivation on facial appearance. Sleep. 2013;36 (9):1355–60. doi:10.5665/sleep.2964.
- Tsukahara K, et al. A study of diurnal variation in wrinkles on the human face. Arch Dermatol Res. 2004;296(4):169–74.
- Poljsak B, et al. The influence of the sleeping on the formation of facial wrinkles. J Cosmet Laser Ther. 2012;14(3):133–8. doi:10.3109/14764172.2012.685563.
- 52. Sarifakioğlu N, et al. A new phenomenon: "sleep lines" on the face. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg. 2004;38(4):244–7.
- Kotlus BS. Effect of sleep position on perceived facial aging. Dermatol Surg. 2013;39(9):1360–2. doi:10.1111/dsu.12266.
- 54. Jdid R, et al. MC1R major variants are a risk factor of sleep lines in Caucasian women. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2014;28(6):805–9. doi:10.1111/jdv.12119.
- Gur RE, Gur RC. Gender differences in aging: cognition, emotions, and neuroimaging studies. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2002;4(2):197–210.

- Gur RC, Moberg PJ, Gur RE. Aging and cognitive functioning. Geriatric secrets. Philadelphia: Hanley & Belfus; 1996. p. 126–9.
- 57. Saykin AJ, et al. Normative neuropsychological test performance: effects of performance: effects of age, education, gender and ethnicity. Appl Neuropsychol. 1995;2:79–88.
- Ohayon MM, Reynolds CF, Dauvilliers Y. Excessive sleep duration and quality of life. Ann Neurol. 2013;73:785–94.
- Mallampalli MP, Carter CL. Exploring sex and gender differences in sleep health: a Society for Women's Health Research Report. J Womens Health. 2014;23(7):553–62.
- 60. Guidozzi F. Gender differences in sleep in older men and women. Climacteric. 2015;5:1–7.
- 61. Cusmano DM, Hadjimarkou MM, Mong JA. Gonadal steroid modulation of sleep and wakefulness in male and female rats is sexually differentiated and neonatally organized by steroid exposure. Endocrinology. 2014;155:204–14.
- Kloth N, et al. Aging affects sex categorization of male and female faces in opposite ways. Acta Psychol. 2015;158:78–86.

- Hauri P. Current concepts: the sleep disorders. Kalamazoo: The Upjohn Company; 1977.
- Stepanski EJ, Wyatt JK. Use of sleep hygiene in the treatment of insomnia. Sleep Med Rev. 2003;7 (3):215–25.
- 65. Voinescu BI, Szentagotai-Tatar A. Sleep hygiene awareness: its relation to sleep quality and diurnal preference. J Mol Psychiatry. 2015;3(1):1.
- 66. Hirokawa K, Nishimoto T, Taniguchi T. Effects of lavender aroma on sleep quality in healthy Japanese students. Percept Mot Skills. 2012;114 (1):111–22.
- Keshavarz AM, et al. Lavender fragrance essential oil and the quality of sleep in postpartum women. Iran Red Crescent Med J. 2015;17:4. doi:10.5812/ircmj.17(4) 2015.25880.
- Szafrański T. Herbal remedies in depression state of the art. Psychiatr Pol. 2014;48(1):59–73.
- Lillehei AS, Halcon LL. A systematic review of the effect of inhaled essential oils on sleep. J Altern Complement Med. 2014;20(6):441–51. doi:10.1089/acm. 2013.0311.